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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

SAN ANTONIO DIVISION 
 

THOMAS WATT, Individually and On 

Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

ROGA SATELLITE, INC. D/B/A BAM 

TECHS, ZAVALLA BAM TEX, LLC 

D/B/A BAM TECHS, MICHAEL 

DEEMER, CHRISTOPHER 

SPRINGER; and BILLY LINTHICUM, 

 

Defendants. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§

§ 

§ 

§ 

 

 

 

 

 

            

Civil Action No.  

 

5:18-CV-846 

 

 

 

   PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 

    

Plaintiff Thomas Watt (“Named Plaintiff”) on behalf of himself and all others similarly 

situated (“Class Members”) (Named Plaintiff and Class Members are collectively referred to as 

“Plaintiffs”) brings this Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) suit against the above-named 

Defendants under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq., as amended.   

I.  NATURE OF SUIT 

1. The FLSA “limits to 40 a week the number of hours that an employer may employ any of his 

employees subject to the Act, unless the employee receives compensation for his employment in 

excess of 40 hours at a rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate at which he is 

employed.” Walling v. Helmerich & Payne, 323 U.S. 37, 40 (1944) (discussing the requirements 

of 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)). 

2. Defendants are violating the FLSA by misclassifying its satellite internet installers (“Installers”) 

as independent contractors and failing to pay them any additional wages for working more than 

forty hours in a workweek.   
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3. Because there are other putative plaintiffs who are similarly situated to the Named Plaintiff with 

regard to the work performed and the Defendants’ compensation policies, Named Plaintiff brings 

this action as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

II. PARTIES 

4. Named Plaintiff Thomas Watt (“Watt) is an individual who resides in the State of Texas.  At all 

relevant times, Watt was an “employee” of Defendants as defined by the FLSA.  At all relevant 

times, Defendants were, individually and jointly, Watt’s “employer” as defined by the FLSA.  Watt 

has consented to be a party-plaintiff to this action, as indicated in his consent form, which has been 

filed in this matter as Docket No. 1-1. 

5. The Named Plaintiff and Class Members are Defendants’ current and former Installers who were 

classified as independent contractors and not paid one and a half times their regular rate of pay for 

hours worked in excess of 40 in a week. 

6. Roga Satellite, Inc. is a Texas Corporation that is currently authorized to do business in Texas and 

that is doing business in Texas.  Its principal office is located in Temple, Texas.  Its registered 

agent for service of process is United States Corporation Agents, Inc., 9900 Spectrum Drive, 

Austin, Texas 78717.  Roga Satellite, Inc. does business as BAM Techs. During all relevant times, 

it has done business in the San Antonio Division of the United States District Court for the Western 

District of Texas. 

7. Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC is a Texas Corporation that is currently authorized to do business in Texas 

and that is doing business in Texas.  Its principal office is located in Temple, Texas.  Its registered 

agent for service of process is Billy J. Linthicum, 5 Kimberley Drive, Hewitt, Texas 76643. Zavalla 

Bam Tex, LLC does business as BAM Techs.  During all relevant times, it has done business in 

the San Antonio Division of the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas. 
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8. Michael Deemer is an individual residing in or around McClennan County, Texas.  Defendant 

Michael Deemer was, at all times relevant to this action, an “employer” of Plaintiffs as that term 

is used in the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §203(d).  Defendant Michael Deemer may be served with process 

at 3136 Lippizan Street, Waco, Texas 76706 or wherever he may be found. 

9. Christopher Springer is an individual residing in or around Williamson County, Texas.  Defendant 

Christopher Springer was, at all times relevant to this action, an “employer” of Plaintiffs as that 

term is used in the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §203(d).  Defendant Christopher Springer may be served with 

process at 310 Mossy Rock Drive, Hutto, Texas 78634 or wherever he may be found. 

10. Billy Linthicum is an individual residing in or around McClennan County, Texas.  Defendant Billy 

Linthicum was, at all times relevant to this action, an “employer” of Plaintiffs as that term is used 

in the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §203(d).  Defendant Billy Linthicum may be served with process at 705 

Kimberly Drive, Hewitt, Texas 76643 or wherever he may be found. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction in this matter because Plaintiffs assert claims arising 

under federal law.  Specifically, Plaintiffs assert claims arising under the Fair Labor Standards Act 

of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. (“FLSA”).  This Court, therefore, has subject matter 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  This Court also has personal jurisdiction over all parties 

to this action. 

12. Venue is proper in the San Antonio Division of the United States District Court for the Western 

District of Texas because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in this 

Division.  In addition, inasmuch as Defendants are subject to this Court’s personal jurisdiction for 

purposes of this civil action, Defendants reside in this district and division.   Venue in this Court 

is therefore proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). 
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IV. COVERAGE UNDER THE FLSA 

13. At all relevant times, Defendants have each, individually and jointly, acted, directly or indirectly, 

in the interest of an employer with respect to Named Plaintiff and the Class Members. 

14. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have each, individually and jointly, been an 

“employer” in relation to the Plaintiffs within the meaning of Section 3(d) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 203(d). 

15. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have each, individually and jointly, been engaged 

in an “enterprise” within the meaning of Section 3(r) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(r). 

16. At all times hereinafter mentioned Defendants have each, individually and jointly, been an 

enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning 

of Section 3(s)(1) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1), in that Defendants are an enterprise and has 

had employees engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, or employees 

handling, selling, or otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced 

for commerce by any person and in that enterprise has had and has an annual gross volume of sales 

made or business done of not less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level which 

are separately stated). 

17. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Named Plaintiff and Class Members were individual 

“employees” (as defined in Section 3(e)(1) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(1)) who were engaged 

in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as required by 29 U.S.C. §207 and whom 

Defendants at all relevant times “employ[ed]” within the meaning of Section 3(g) of the FLSA, 29 

U.S.C. § 203(g). 
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V.  FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC are satellite internet installers.  

18. Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC operate a unified business under the assumed name 

“BAM Techs.”   

19. Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC utilize shared management, payroll personnel, 

human resources, inventory, and software. 

20. Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC share an Installer handbook (called the “Spig” by 

Defendants).  In the Installer handbook, Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC state they 

merged with one another to “become the biggest Hughes[Net] installation company in Texas.” 

21. Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC contracts with HughesNet, or HughesNet’s 

affiliates, to install the equipment necessary for HughesNet’s customers to receive HughesNet 

satellite internet. 

22. At all relevant times, Roga Satellite, Inc. had an annual gross volume of sales made or business 

done of not less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level). 

23. At all relevant times, Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC had an annual gross volume of sales made or business 

done of not less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level). 

24. Combined, Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC had an annual gross volume of sales 

made or business done of not less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level). 

B.  The individual defendants, Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum, own 

and control the operations of Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC. 

25. Christopher Springer, Michael Deemer, and Billy Linthicum are owners and members of Roga 

Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC. 

26. For both Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC, Michael Deemer is responsible for sales, 

payroll, training the Installers on policies and procedures, and creating, implementing, and 

modifying policies and procedures concerning Installers.  
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27. For both Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC, Christopher Springs is responsible for 

payroll functions, routing Installers to Hughes’ Net customers, managing inventory, and all IT 

issues. 

28. For both Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC, Bill Linthicum is responsible for sales, 

public relations and marketing, and Human Resources functions. 

29. Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum are responsible for running the day-to-day 

operations of Roga Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC.   

30. Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum, at all relevant times, possessed and, in fact, 

exercised the power to hire and fire Defendants’ Installers.   

31. Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum, acting directly in the interest of Roga 

Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC, determined the wages to be paid to Plaintiffs.   

32. Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum, acting directly in the interest of Roga 

Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC, maintained employment records on Plaintiffs. 

33. Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum, acting directly in the interest of Roga 

Satellite, Inc. and Zavalla Bam Tex, LLC, determined the locations where Plaintiffs would work. 

34. Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum supervised and controlled Plaintiffs’ work 

schedules and conditions of employment and determined the rate and method of payment.   

35. Defendants jointly employed Named Plaintiff and Class Members.  Defendants exercised a unified 

operation and common control over the Named Plaintiff and Class Members.   Defendants are part 

of a single integrated enterprise that employed Named Plaintiff and Class Members. 

C. Defendants hire independent contractors as Installers to install HughesNet satellite 

equipment.  

36. Defendants primary business is the installation of satellite equipment for HughesNet customers.  

Defendants service HughesNet customers across Texas. 
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37. HughesNet pays Defendants to install satellite equipment for HughesNet customers.  Defendants 

in turn hire Installers to perform the work of installing the satellite equipment.  Defendants’ hire 

Installers to install HughesNet across all of Texas. 

38. In installing the satellite equipment, Plaintiffs handle tools, equipment, and other materials that 

were manufactured outside of the State of Texas. 

39. Defendants classify their Installers as independent contractors and issue them IRS form 1099s. 

40. Defendants’ Installers are not exempt from the overtime protections of the FLSA. 

41. Named Plaintiff Watt worked for Defendants as an Installer from approximately December 2016 

until July 2018.  During that time, Named Plaintiff Watt worked six days per week, approximately 

ten hours per day and sometimes more.  Named Plaintiff Watt worked in the greater San Antonio 

area, including in Bexar County during the entirety of his employment with Defendants. 

42. Class Members also regularly worked more than forty hours per week.  Defendants incentivized 

Installers to be available to start installation jobs beginning at 8AM and to continue to be available 

until 5 PM, Monday through Sunday.  Named Plaintiff and Class Members also attended hour-

long monthly training meetings on Sundays.   

43. Despite working long hours, Defendants pay their Installers on a per job basis.  Defendants do not 

pay Installers on an hourly basis and do not pay Installers any additional wages for hours worked 

in a week over forty. 

44. Defendants do not record the number of hours worked per workweek by Named Plaintiff Watt and 

or the Class Members. 

D. Defendants’ misclassify Installers as independent contractors and have failed to pay them 

any overtime compensation.   

45. Installers do work for Defendants that is an integral part of Defendants’ business—installing 

satellite equipment for HughesNet customers.  
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46. Defendants’ website lists its Installers (referred to as “Technicians”) as part of “The Team.”1 

47. Installers wear BAMTechs uniform shirts while performing work for Defendants. 

48. Defendants’ Installers are not organized as separate businesses but instead work for Defendants as 

individuals. 

49. Defendants do not permit Installers to work for any other HughesNet authorized retailer while 

working for Defendants.  

50. Defendants incentivize its Installers to make themselves available to install satellite equipment for 

the entirety of each workday.  According to the Installer handbook, “[w]orkload will strongly favor 

those who are available and dependable,” labeling Installers who are only partly available as 

“reserve technicians.”  According to the Installer handbook, “reserve technicians” “cannot meet 

the needs of the company.” 

51. Defendants retain a portion of the Installers earnings in a separate account called the “Technician 

Savings Account” (“TSA”).  Defendants deduct moneys from the TSA for missing or lost 

equipment and for chargebacks (described below).  Should an Installer wish to stop working for 

Defendants, to obtain the funds in the Installers’ TSA, they must provide 10 ten days’ notice of 

their intent to leave.  During those ten days, the Installer must continue to work for Defendants. 

52. Defendants’ Installer handbook contains professionalism standards, which convey Defendants’ 

expectation of how Installers are to behave and present themselves while performing work for a 

HughesNet customer.  

53. Defendants’ require their Installers to record the arrival and departure times at each job site. 

54. Defendants’ also control the method of performance of the Installer’s work. For example, the 

Installer handbook describes with specificity the tasks that the Installer must do when arriving at 

the jobsite, while performing the work, and before leaving a jobsite. 

                                                 
1 https://www.getbamtechs.com/the-team/. Last visited August 16, 2018. 
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55. When first arriving at a jobsite, Defendants require its Installers first do a “Site Survey” before 

conducting any work.  The Site Survey consists of five components: (1) greeting the customer; (2) 

identifying the location for the IDU (the indoor unit that decodes satellite transmissions); (3) 

identifying the customer’s PC needs and any custom charges involved; (4) examining the property 

for an electrical grounding point, satellite dish location, and cable routing; and (5) reviewing the 

plan of install with and getting installation approval from the customer.  According to the Installer 

handbook, the “Site Survey is not optional!” 

56. When installing the satellite, Defendants also impose specific requirements that the Installers must 

follow.  Defendants’ policies govern the location of the satellite dish, installation methods of the 

satellite dish, type of electrical grounding, and type of materials used. 

57. Defendants—including Michael Deemer, Chris Springer, and Billy Linthicum—receive inquiries 

on, and respond to, Defendants’ Installer support line (called the “bat line”).  Through the “bat 

line,” Defendants guide Installers on how to do the job. 

58. The Installers do not have discretion over the materials they use to complete a job.  Defendants 

require that Installers use and purchase from Defendants the installation materials such as cables, 

connectors, and poles.  Defendants provide only the HughesNet satellite equipment for installation.   

59. Defendants require its Installers to attend at least one monthly Sunday training meeting.  During 

those meetings, Defendants train their Installers on Defendants’ policies and procedures, including 

installation, quality control, inventory, and salesmanship.  Should an Installer fail to attend a 

meeting, Defendants do not give the Installer any work in the following week.  

60. For a period of time in approximately February to May, 2017, Defendants paid their Installers a 

guaranteed $850 per week regardless of the number of hours worked.  If the actual amount earned 

was less than $850, the difference was added to a “debt ledger” and deducted from future 
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paychecks.  To receive the $850 per week, Installers had to constantly be on “Standby” status, 

meaning they had to remain available to work every day, all day. 

61. In addition to the per-job payment, Defendants pay Installers additional monies for each of three 

“metrics”—Quality Assurance, Availability, and Marketing.  The Quality Assurance metric is paid 

if enough of the Installers work is judged as passing Defendants’ quality standards for a specific 

period of time.  Defendants Deemer, Springer, and Linthicum were each involved in assessing the 

Installers’ performance compared to Defendants’ quality standards. 

62. The Availability metric is based on the Installers recording themselves as either “Available to 

Work” or on “Standby” a certain number of days in advance of the workday.   

63. The Marketing metric is paid if Installers install a certain number of yard signs and record the 

location of the yard sign using Defendants’ software. 

64. Defendants’ incentivize their Installers to set their status as “Standby” and therefore available to 

work for the entire day by guaranteeing them at least $60 in pay for the day. 

65. Defendants issue “chargebacks” against its Installers’ pay for certain Installer behaviors, including 

changing their availability within 24 hours of the workday or after routes were assigned, no-call 

no-showing to an assigned job, and not meeting Defendants’ installation requirements—including 

electrical grounding and satellite dish location and mounting.  

66. For all times relevant to this action, the Plaintiffs’ primary job duty is not the performance of work 

directly related to Defendants’ management or general business operations, or those of their 

customers.   

67. For all times relevant to this action, the Plaintiffs’ primary job duty did not include the exercise of 

discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance. 
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68. For all times relevant to this action, the Plaintiffs’ primary job duty is not the making of sales or 

obtaining orders or contracts for services or for the use of facilities for which a consideration will 

be paid by the client or customer.   

69. For all times relevant to this action, the Plaintiffs’ primary job duty is not one requiring knowledge 

of an advanced type in a field of science or learning customarily acquired by a prolonged course 

of specialized intellectual instruction, or requiring invention, imagination, originality or talent in a 

recognized field of artistic or creative endeavor. 

VI. COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

70. Named Plaintiff and the Class Members have performed, and are performing, the same or similar 

job duties as one another in that they all worked as Installers for Defendants. Moreover, Named 

Plaintiff and Class Members worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek.  Further, Named 

Plaintiff and the Class Members were subjected to the same pay provisions in that they were all 

misclassified as independent contractors and Defendants failed to pay them at one and one-half 

times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in a workweek.   Thus, 

the Class Members are owed unpaid overtime for the same reasons as Named Plaintiff, without 

regard to their individualized circumstances. 

71.  Defendants’ failure to compensate employees for hours worked in excess of 40 in a workweek as 

required by the FLSA results from a policy or practice of classifying its Installers as independent 

contractors and not paying the Installers at one and a half times their regular rate of pay for hours 

worked in excess of forty hours in week.  This policy or practice is and has been, at all relevant 

times, applicable to the Named Plaintiff and all Class Members.  Application of this policy or 

practice does not depend on the personal circumstances of the Named Plaintiff or those joining this 

lawsuit.  Rather, the same policy or practice that resulted in the non-payment of overtime 
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compensation to Named Plaintiff also applies to all Class Members.  Accordingly, the “Class 

Members” are properly defined as: 

All individuals who worked for Defendants as an Installer at any time 

in the last three years.   

 

VII. CAUSE OF ACTION 

 

COUNT I 

 

FAILURE TO PAY WAGES IN  

ACCORDANCE WITH THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT 

 

72. During the relevant period, Defendants have violated and are violating Section 7 of the FLSA, 29 

U.S.C. §§ 207, and 215(a)(2), by employing employees in an enterprise engaged in commerce or 

in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of the FLSA as stated herein above, 

for workweeks longer than 40 hours without compensating such employees for all of their work in 

excess of forty hours per week at rates no less than one-and-one-half times their regular rates for 

which they were employed.  Defendants acted willfully in failing to pay Named Plaintiff and the 

Class Members in accordance with applicable law. 

73. None of the exemptions provided by the FLSA regulating the duty of employers to pay overtime 

compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate of pay at which its 

employees are employed are paid are applicable to the Named Plaintiff or Class Members. 

VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiffs pray for an expedited order certifying a class and directing notice to putative class 

members pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and, individually, and on behalf of any and all such class 

members, on trial of this cause, judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, as follows: 

a. For an Order pursuant to Section 16(b) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §216(b), finding 

Defendants liable for unpaid back wages due to Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the 
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suit) and for liquidated damages equal in amount to the unpaid compensation found due to Named 

Plaintiff (and those who may join the suit); 

d. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) the 

taxable costs and allowable expenses of this action; 

e. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) 

attorneys’ fees; and 

f. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) pre-

judgment and post-judgment interest at the highest rates allowed by law; 

g. For an Order awarding Named Plaintiff declaratory and injunctive relief as 

necessary to prevent the Defendants’ further violations, and to effectuate the purposes, of the Fair 

Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.; and 

h. For an Order granting such other and further relief, at law or in equity, as may be 

necessary and/or appropriate. 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

MORELAND LAW FIRM, P.C. 

The Commissioners House at Heritage Square 

2901 Bee Cave Road, Box L  

Austin, Texas 78746  

Tel: (512) 782-0567 

Fax: (512) 782-0605 

By:  /s/ Daniel A. Verrett     

 Daniel A. Verrett 

       Texas State Bar No. 24075220 

daniel@morelandlaw.com 

 

Edmond S. Moreland, Jr. 

State Bar No. 24002644 

edmond@morelandlaw.com 

700 West Summit Drive 

Wimberley, Texas 78676 

(512) 782-0567 

(512) 782-0605 - telecopier 
       

 ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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